IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WACKENHUT SECURITY AND ROZIVITO HOSKINS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS AN EMPLOYEE OF WACKENHUT SECURITY

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2010-CA-00480

ERNIE FORTUNE

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, WACKENHUT SECURITY AND ROZIVITO HOSKINS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS AN EMPLOYEE OF WACKENHUT SECURITY

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

MATTHEW A. TAYLOR (MSB NOR GLADDEN INGRAM O'CAIN & TAYLOR, PLLC 455 PEBBLE CREEK DRIVE MADISON, MISSISSIPPI 39110 POST OFFICE BOX 2970 MADISON, MISSISSIPPI 39130 TELEPHONE: 601-707-5903 FACSIMILE: 601-707-5915

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the trial court erred in allowing Plaintiff's expert witness, Glenda Glover, through the testimony of James Henley, to use the earnings capacity approach to calculate loss of future earnings.
- Whether the trial court erred in excluding evidence and testimony of Plaintiff's alcohol use.
- Whether the trial court erred in denying Defendant's Motion in Limine to exclude evidence of future surgeries.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in allowing substitution of Plaintiff's expert witness economist at trial.
- 5. Whether the trial court erred in allowing documentary evidence to be redacted following admission into evidence and publication to the jury.
- 6. Whether the trial court erred in refusing proposed jury instruction D-11 regarding contributory negligence.
- Whether the trial court erred in refusing proposed jury instruction D-26 regarding use of reasonable force.
- 8. Whether the trial court erred in excluding evidence of Plaintiff's prior bad acts.
- Whether the trial court erred in excluding references to Plaintiff's status as "homeless".
- 10. Whether the trial court erred in excluding evidence of collateral sources.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for damages by Ernie Fortune against Defendants The Wackenhut Corporation, Rozivito Hoskins, individually and as employee of Wackenhut, My Joy, Inc. d/b/a McDonald's, Tracey Luckett, individually and as an employee of My Joy, Inc. d/b/a McDonald's, and McDonald's Corporation for failing to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition; failing to supervise and regulate the conduct and activities so as to protect guests from physical harm; failing to exercise ordinary care in the discharge of their responsibility to prevent and protect patrons from incidents; allowing an atmosphere of violence to exist or develop on its premises; negligently hiring a person whom the Defendants knew or should have known was a person of violent propensities; negligence in failing to adequately train the personnel employed and on duty at the restaurant; negligence in retaining employees whom the Defendants knew or should have known were persons of violent propensities; assault and battery of the Plaintiff through the ratification due to the Defendants' failure to discharge employees responsible for attack and subsequent injury; failing to remedy a dangerous condition which the Defendants caused to exist or of which the Defendants knew or should have been aware of; and failing to render aid to the Plaintiff.

Plaintiff sought damages for past, present and future medical and other expenses; loss of income and wages; past, present and future physical pain and suffering; past, present and future emotional distress and mental anguish; permanent physical impairment, scarring and disfigurement; permanent loss of the use of his right arm; and other damages.

The trial was held before a jury of twelve (2) commencing on November 30, 2009 and ending on December 7, 2009. The case was submitted to the jury on instructions delivered by the lower court. The jury found in favor of Plaintiff. The jury found Defendants, Wackenhut and

Hoskins to be 75% negligent and Defendants, My Joy, Inc. and Luckett to be 25% negligent. The jury assessed Plaintiff's total damages to be one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00). On February10, 2010, the trial court issued its Order Denying Defendants' Various Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the Alternative, for a New trial, or in the Alternative, for Remittitur. Appellants perfect this appeal from the lower court's judgments.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 27, 2008, Plaintiff entered the McDonald's restaurant located at 2465 Highway 80 West in Jackson, Mississippi, for the purpose of filling a cup with ice from the fountain drink machine. (Tr. 602:11-22). Plaintiff did not intend to purchase any food at the restaurant, but rather intended to take ice from the drink machine without payment. (Tr. 602:11-22). Plaintiff brought in a cup from off the premises, which he alleges to have been purchased at an earlier time at the McDonald's. (Tr. 601:6-17). On the date in question, the owner of the McDonald's location, My Joy, Inc., was under contract with The Wackenhut Corporation to provide security services at the restaurant. (Tr. 472:5-13). The security officer on duty at the time that Plaintiff entered the restaurant was Defendant, Rozivito Hoskins. (Tr. 551:28 to 552:4).

Upon entering the restaurant, Plaintiff walked straight to the fountain drink machine, without first purchasing any items, and attempted to dispense ice into his cup, without paying for same. (Tr. 517:19-25). Upon being noticed by the McDonald's manager on duty, Tracy Luckett, she instructed him, from behind the counter, that he could not bring a cup into the restaurant and take ice from the drink machine. (Tr. 517:19-25; 526:25 to 528:8; 531:2-8). McDonald's corporate policy does not permit the giving away of cups, ice or water without purchase. (Tr. 523:3-9). Plaintiff alleges that he was told that bringing in a cup from off the restaurant premises was unsanitary. (Tr. 574:26 to 575:12). Upon receiving the instruction that he could not proceed to use the cup from off premises to dispense ice from the machine, Plaintiff became agitated and began cursing at Ms. Luckett. (Tr. 576:22-26; 516:14 to 519:21). Plaintiff was asked to leave the premises and left the building. (Tr. 516:16-26).

Moments later, Plaintiff returned and entered the restaurant, again, and proceeded to throw a dollar bill at Ms. Luckett, who was still standing behind the counter. (Tr. 516:16-26).

At this point, Rozivito Hoskins approached Plaintiff and asked him to leave. (Tr. 551:28 to 553:20; 559:25 to 560:6). Plaintiff then brandished a knife at Mr. Hoskins. (Tr. 552:3-11). Upon receiving a threatening arm motion from Plaintiff, Mr. Hoskins moved toward Plaintiff, pushing him through the restaurant door and onto the ground. (Tr. 552:3 to 560:25).

Following the incident, the Jackson Police Department recovered a knife at the scene. (Tr. 209:12-17).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing Plaintiff's expert witness economist, Dr. Glenda Glover, to utilize the earnings capacity approach in calculating her estimate for Plaintiff's alleged future lost wages/loss of earnings capacity. The methodology has been found by this Court to be unreliable pursuant to the *Daubert* standard of admissible expert testimony. Dr. Glover relied on assumptions in rendering her opinions which have been rejected by this Court, and the trial court's admission of such testimony and opinions was error warranting reversal and remand.

The trial court erred in excluding relevant evidence of Plaintiff's alcohol use throughout his lifetime. Plaintiff alleged damages for future medical treatment and future lost wages/loss of earning capacity. Plaintiff's alcohol use is relevant to all of his claims for damages as it is interrelated and an element of not only his medical condition, but also his ability to seek employment and remain employed. His alcohol use is also relevant to his life expectancy and work life expectancy. The probative value of such evidence far outweighs its prejudicial effect and the trial court's error in excluding the relevant evidence deprived Defendants of their ability to conduct thorough cross examination of Plaintiff and his expert witnesses and rebut any of his claims for damages.

Notwithstanding the relevant and probative nature of Plaintiff's alcohol use which was excluded in error by the trial court, the court also committed error warranting reversal and remand by prohibiting inquiry of the issue after the Plaintiff opened the door to such evidence through the testimony of his expert witnesses and by introducing documents into evidence which reference his alcoholism and its effect on his medical condition, work history and employment status.

The trial court erred in allowing testimony of Plaintiff's need for future surgeries.

Plaintiff's medical expert did not opine, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Plaintiff would require future surgeries related to the alleged incident and testified that his opinions were speculative, at best. Additionally, Plaintiff's medical expert could not opine that Plaintiff would ever be a viable candidate for any future surgeries due to his diminished physical condition brought about by his chronic alcoholism. The trial court's admission of testimony regarding Plaintiff's need for future surgeries warrants a reversal and remand.

The trial court committed error in allowing substitution of Plaintiff's expert witness economist at trial, when the expert was unavailable to testify. In discovery, Plaintiff refused to allow the Defendants to depose his expert economist. The expert was then unavailable for trial. Rather than exclude the testimony, the trial court allowed a substitute economist to adopt the expert's opinions and testify, out of turn, at trial. Plaintiff proceeded at his own peril by not preserving his expert witness' testimony for trial. As there is no authority under Mississippi law to permit the substitution of Plaintiff's expert witness, the trial court erred in allowing the substitute expert to testify at trial. Any testimony or opinions as to future lost wages/loss of earning capacity should have been excluded, and a reversal and remand is warranted.

The trial court erred in allowing Plaintiff to introduce Plaintiff's medical bills into evidence and then permitting the bills to be redacted to remove references to alcohol related treatment following admission. The trial court ordered that no evidence or testimony of Plaintiff's alcohol use would be permitted during trial. However, Plaintiff introduced evidence referencing alcohol treatment, and Plaintiff asserted that the bills associated therewith were claimed as an element of his damages. Rather than allow cross examination and additional evidence related to the alcohol treatment and Plaintiff's alcohol use, the trial court allowed the evidence to be redacted following admission into evidence during trial. The trial court's error

warrants reversal and remand.

The trial court erred in refusing Defendant's proposed jury instructions as to contributory negligence of the Plaintiff and the use of force and perceived threat by the Wackenhut security officer. The proposed jury instructions are supported by the testimony of witnesses at trial, and should have been properly given to the jury.

The trial court erred in excluding evidence of Plaintiff's prior bad acts, including criminal convictions, which were relevant to his claim for economic damages for future lost wages/loss of earning capacity. Plaintiff's criminal history is relevant not only to his work history, but also his employability and work life expectancy. The trial court's exclusion of such relevant evidence warrants reversal and remand.

The trial court erred in excluding references to Plaintiff's status as "homeless" as such evidence is relevant to his claim for economic damages for future lost wages/loss of earning capacity. Additionally, the court excluded documents, prepared by the Plaintiff, which define his socioeconomic status in that light. The trial court's exclusion of such relevant evidence warrants reversal and remand.

Finally, the trial court erred in excluding evidence of collateral sources when the Plaintiff opened the door to cross examination and evidence on the issue by testifying that he was unable to pay for additional medical treatment. The trial court's exclusion of such relevant evidence warrants reversal and remand.

This Court has repeatedly held that while litigants are not entitled to a perfect trial, they are entitled to a fair trial. *Blake v. Clein*, 903 So.2d 710, 718 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Ekornes - Duncan v. Rankin Med. Ctr.*, 808 So.2d 955, 959 (Miss. 2002). *See also Parnes v. Ill. Cent. Gulf R.R.*, 440 So.2d 261, 268 (Miss. 1983). Where individual errors at the trial level, including the

exclusion of relevant witnesses and evidence may not be reversible in themselves, they may combine with other errors to make reversible error. *Id.* at 719 (citing *Estate of Hunter v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 729 So.2d 1264, 1279 (Miss. 1999). Defendants submit that while any of the errors of the trial court noted herein warrant reversal and remand, in the alternative, the evidentiary rulings, taken together, deprived Defendants of a fair trial. Reversal and remand for a new trial on the merits is warranted.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Allowing Plaintiff's Expert Witness, Glenda Glover, Through the Testimony of James Henley, to Use the Earnings Capacity Approach to Calculate Loss of Future Earnings

The trial court erred in denying Defendant's Motion to Strike Expert Testimony and Motion in Limine to Prohibit Reference to the Opinions of Dr. Glenda Glover and Any Alleged Loss of Income. (R. 2515; R.E. 6). During trial, Dr. Glover, through the testimony of James Henley, provided opinions related to loss of income which utilize methodology which has been held as unreliable by this Court. (Tr. 772:22 to 811:25). The trial court committed reversible error in allowing the testimony.

In 2003, Mississippi adopted the Daubert/Kumho Tire rule as the standard for admissibility of expert witness testimony. Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 35-40 (Miss. 2003). See also, Kumho Tire Co., Ltd v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 119 S.Ct. 1167, 143 L.Ed.2d 238 (1999); Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993). Under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702:

[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

Miss.R.Evid. 702.

The issue of methodology used by Dr. Glover in calculating loss of future earnings has recently been settled by this Court. *Rebelwood Apartments RP, LP v. English*, 48 So.3d 483, 494 (Miss. 2010). Mississippi law requires a trial court to ensure that proposed expert testimony satisfies Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702. *Rebelwood Apartments*, 48 So.3d 483 at 494 (citing Kilhullen v. Kansas City s. Ry., 8 So.3d 168, 172 (Miss.2009) (quoting Univ. of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Pounders, 970 So.2d at 141,146 (Miss.2007). In Rebelwood Apartments, the defendant sought pretrial to exclude Dr. Glover's opinion, arguing that permitting her to base her calculations on national-average and an "earnings capacity approach" did not satisfy Daubert standards in that her proposed opinion was not based on "sufficient facts or data..." *Id.* This Court held that Glover's opinion, as presented in this case, was not based on accurate, truthful facts. *Id.*

In the instant case, Glover used the same methodology as she did in the *Rebelwood* Apartments case in calculating future lost earnings:

Damages are based on the discounted present value of lost earnings. Any other economic losses as well as other allowable expenses may be added to these damages at a later date. This earnings capacity approach requires that the future earnings of an individual be estimated and discounted.

(R. 1247).

As addressed in Defendant's Motions, Dr. Glover's opinion is unreliable and should be excluded under *Rebelwood Apartments*. (R. 1239-1264; 2215-2219; R.E. 9, 10) In her report, Dr. Glover states that "[1]osses included in this report are based on the earnings capacity approach, and assumes that [Plaintiff] could have had a normal employment throughout his work life expectancy." Further, Dr. Glover includes six elements in her methodology: (1) base-year earnings or initial earnings estimate; (2) income growth rate; (3) life expectancy; (4) work life expectancy; (5) discount rate; and (6) taxes. (R. 1247; R.E. 9). In clarifying her purported methodology, Dr. Glover adds that her calculation of the "projected base year income includes the individual's regular compensation consisting of salary, bonuses, and commissions; secondjob compensation; and fringe benefits." (R. 1247; R.E. 9). She further notes that "[f]uture earnings depend not only on the income level and growth, but on the probable length of time a person is expected to live, as well as the length of time a person is expected to work, known as the life expectancy, and work life expectancy, respectively. (R. 1247; R.E. 9). However, Dr. Glover fails to adhere to her own professed methodology and fails to properly support her assumptions.

The evidence presented at trial through the testimony of Plaintiff and his medical expert witness, Dr. Howard Katz, along with the records of the Mississippi Department of Human Services, Office of Disability and Social Security Administration, included in Defendant's Exhibit D-3 For Identification following proffer, clearly demonstrate that Plaintiff did not have normal employment prior to the subject incident. Rather, Plaintiff's prior employment history is completely lacking. Therefore, Dr. Glover's methodology and assumptions are fundamentally flawed.

As a preliminary matter, Plaintiff's only recorded income between 2001 and 2008 is Labor Ready Southeast Inc. (\$49.00 in 2001) and Stuart C. Irby (\$2091.38 in 2001). (Exhibit D-3 For Identification). The evidence presented at trial confirms minuscule and sporadic work history, at best. As noted by Dr. Katz:

Mr. Fortune works for Furniture Zone holding a sign up for them eight hours per day. He sits holding the sign with PVC pipe with his left hand. He began in February 2009. He is very proud of this job. He says he has kept this job longer than any other job he has ever had.

(R. 2154, R.E. 11).

This was further confirmed by Plaintiff's own testimony:

Q. So in the last ten years the only reported income with the federal government you had was from Stuart Irby. Correct?

A. Yes sir.

(Tr. 638:26-29).

Dr. Glover provides no support for her assumption that Plaintiff could have had a normal employment throughout his work life expectancy. Moreover, any such assumption is undercut by the fact that Plaintiff's IRS and SSA documentation demonstrate that he did not have normal employment prior to the subject incident. (Exhibit D-11 For Identification). Dr. Glover also provides no support for her assumptions underlying her base-year earnings or initial earnings estimate. In her calculation, Dr. Glover utilizes alternative base figures for yearly earnings - \$13,624 (minimum wage) and \$40,405 (wages based on national index). (R. 1247-48; R.E. 9). However, she provides no support for the utilization of either assumption, and the use of each is undercut by Plaintiff's demonstrated lack of pre-incident employment. Dr. Glover further fails to announce and/or consider Plaintiff's work life expectancy. (R. 1247-48; R.E. 9). Finally, Dr. Glover fails to account for Plaintiff's actually earned post-incident wages. (R. 1247-48; R.E. 9). Plaintiff was employed as a sign holder for Furniture Zone for 7 ½ months making \$7.50 per hour. (Tr. 673:16-19). This is not reflected in her methodology or calculations.

Without accounting for Plaintiff's lack of normal pre-incident employment, the lack of support for base-year or an initial earnings estimate, work life expectancy, and post incident wages, Dr. Glover's methodology and calculations are fundamentally flawed. As pointed out in *Rebelwood Apartments*, Dr. Glover's testimony as to her calculation of future lost earnings does not meet the *Daubert* standard of admissibility of expert testimony. In the instant case, Dr. Glover does not base her opinions on any facts or data regarding Plaintiff's lack of pre-incident employment, the lack of support for base-year earnings or an initial earnings estimate, work life expectancy and/or post-incident wages. Instead, as she did in the *Rebelwoods Apartments* case, she simply uses the earnings capacity approach to calculate Plaintiff's future lost earnings. As

such, Dr. Glover's methodology and/or calculations are fundamentally flawed. Accordingly, she fails to reasonably express an opinion which would be supported by reasonable accounting and economic principles. For these reasons, the lower court erred in allowing her testimony and opinions in this regard.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Excluding Evidence and Testimony of Plaintiff's Alcohol Use

The trial court erred in excluding evidence and testimony of Plaintiff's alcohol use, as the evidence was relevant to his claim for past and future medical treatment and lost wages. Additionally, the trial court erred in continuing to exclude such evidence when Plaintiff "opened the door" to the issue through the testimony of his own expert witness, Dr. Howard Katz, and by introducing evidence of administration of alcohol and alcohol by his medical providers, and asserting damages for treatment by Dr. Kwentus.

A. Evidence of Plaintiff's Alcohol Use is Relevant to His Claims for Damages

Plaintiff submitted a Motion in Limine to Exclude Irrelevant Information in Medical Records, which was granted by the trial court. (R. 2500-01; R.E. 7) In the hearing on the Motion in Limine, the trial court stated "With respect to past alcohol use that would not be admissible during this trial". (Tr. 69:5-9; R.E. 4). This ruling prohibited reference to and introduction of medical records of the Plaintiff containing reference to alcohol. In their arguments before this Court in Motions in Limine, Defendants attempted to explain the relevancy of Plaintiff's alcohol use as follows:

THE COURT:	Well, would that be relevant to the incident herein? How would it
	be relevant?
MR. WOLF:	He's made a claim for wages, Your Honor. By making a claim for
	wages he's saying that he had a pre-existing wage earning capacity.
	By saying he has a pre-existing wage earning capacity, these

experts have assume that he has periods of sobriety where he works, that there are occasions of getting employed. They also have an assumption with regard to he makes a claim for medical damages, pain and suffering.

Your Honor, when this man walked into that McDonald's in the night of question, he had a series of pre-existing injuries and a preexisting history of alcohol use which may have put him on a downward slope such that this injury is not a disabling event in and of itself. He was previously claimed to be disabled as a product of his own medical history, also which was part and parcel of his alcoholic and substance abuse history. You can't separate this man from his alcohol use. We're talking every time he goes to the hospital, whether it be broke bones, hips, things like that, there is alcohol on board. This man's entire medical history, his very person is part and parcel of his alcohol use throughout his life. So if he's going to come in here and claim I can't work now, we're in a position where we have to say wait, and you could work before? But wait a second, you were physically injured as a result of alcohol related drinks. You were under the influence - -So you can't prove he wouldn't work before without showing that he was an alcoholic before?

THE COURT:

MR. WOLF:

THE COURT:

MR. WOLF:

That was part and parcel of his workability. Your Honor, we through the Social Security Administration, before this event, he was claiming to be disabled. Those records on his disability are with references to the effect of alcoholism in relation to his recovery. Also the wage issue is huge. He wants \$1.3 million on loss wages, based on the premise that this is a man who could work beforehand at something other than a minimum wage job. Well, that's real problematic when you are a raging alcoholic, when your life, the only employment you have is ten years prior, based on a period of sobriety and occasional moments of sobriety. This man's entire wage - -

Well, I don't think I limited you in proving that the plaintiff has not worked in the past ten years. I don't think I ruled that you could not get into that issue. I ruled that past alcohol use was not admissible.

And if I'm real clear on this, and I apologize for not being, Your Honor, the reason he didn't work in the past was because of - - in part because of the alcoholism. He's been able to work during periods of sobriety postaccident. So it's not the injuries that keeps him from working.

And we have expert testimony. There own expert, Dr. Katz, in his report they have put in issue the alcoholism through the report of Dr. Katz.

(Tr. 72:3 to 74:7; R.E. 4).

Generally speaking, all relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. Miss. R. Evid. 402. "Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. M.R.E. 401. Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. M.R.E. 403. In this case, Plaintiff sought damages for past and future medical treatment and expenses and lost wages/loss of earning capacity. The proffered evidence establishes that, throughout his lifetime, Plaintiff had a long-standing addiction to alcohol, which affected not only his medical condition prior and subsequent to the subject incident, but also his ability to maintain past and future employment and his life expectancy. The pattern of alcoholism and behavior adversely affect all aspects of Plaintiff's life and are vital elements of his claims for damages. The proffered evidence shows that Plaintiff has had and would continue to have alcohol related medical problems, a below-average ability to maintain employment and work life expectancy, the inability to undergo certain medical treatments and a below-average life expectancy. Defendants are entitled to full cross examination of these issues and the jury should have properly considered his alcoholism in its consideration of damages. Clearly then, his alcohol use is relevant, and its probative value outweighs any prejudice to Plaintiff.

Defendants were prohibited from introducing into evidence any medical records of the Plaintiff which contain any reference to alcohol use. To preserve the appellate record, Defendants made an evidentiary proffer of the medical records. (Exhibit D-3 For Identification).

During the proffer, Plaintiff's own medical expert witness, Dr. Howard Katz, confirmed the

relevancy of the alcohol reference in the records:

- Q. Doctor, would you agree that with very few exceptions Mr. Fortune's entire medical history is filled with references to alcohol and alcohol abuse?
- A. I would say there - I don't know about the way you said it, but there's a lot of evidence in there of alcohol and alcohol abuse, yes.

(Tr. 412:10-15).

When questioned directly about the administration of alcohol to the Plaintiff as part of a

detoxification procedure during his treatment at University Medical Center, the trial court

prohibited Defendant from eliciting any testimony from Dr. Katz:

- Q. And just so we're real clear on the night of this incident, he was first taken in at CMMC and then transferred over to UMC. Is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. All right. And what I'm looking at here appears to be a chemistry report. Correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now, towards the bottom third of the page there is an indication for alcohol ethyl serum - source, and what is the number that's given there?
- A. 276.

Q.	And when you	see that number, what does that number mean to you, as a doctor?
MR. C)GDEN:	Objection. I think the court has dealt with this in motion in limine
		already. He's asking for an opinion. This doctor is not supposed
		to be rendering those types of opinions and the court has excluded
		them.
THE C	COURT:	That's sustained. You can approach if you need to.

(Tr. 400:1-20).

The medical records were marked as Defendants' Exhibit D-3 For Identification.

Plaintiff's alcohol use, prior alcohol treatment and alcohol abuse are relevant to his claim for damages. The evidence was not offered on the issue of liability, but rather to rebut Plaintiff's claims for lost wages/loss of earning capacity. Although this Court has not directly addressed the relevancy of alcohol use to claims for damages, several other jurisdictions have provided support for the proposition that such evidence is relevant and should be admitted. See Smith v. Southland Corporation, 738 F.Supp.923 (E.D.Penn.1990); see also Caroll v. Morgan, 17 F.3d 787 (5thCir.1994). Because Plaintiff sought future damages, life expectancy and medical condition are pertinent and relevant issues. Dembinski v. Thomas, 48 Pa. D. & C.4th 353, 358 (2000). In Dembinski, the Pennsylvania court noted that evidence of drug or alcohol use is relevant to evaluating future loss of earnings. Id. (citing Kraus v. Taylor, 710 A.2d 1142 (Pa. Super.1998). Such evidence "strongly suggests that [a party's] life expectancy deviates from the average." 710 A.2d at 1144. This evidence is relevant regardless of whether plaintiff introduces expert testimony or life expectancy tables. See Aiello v. SEPTA, 687 A.2d 399, 405 (Pa. Commw. 1996).

In this case, Plaintiff's alleged loss of income, as opined by Dr. Glover through James Henley, was calculated using the earnings capacity approach and assumes that he could have had a normal employment throughout his work life expectancy. (R. 1247; R.E. 9). Further, Plaintiff's expert states that her methodology involves six elements: (1) base-year earnings or initial earnings estimate; (2) income growth rate; (3) life expectancy; (4) work life expectancy; (5) discount rate and (6) taxes. (R. 1247; R.E. 9).

Plaintiff's own counsel, Jim Smith, has addressed the relevancy of drug use to work-life and life expectancy during his tenure on the Mississippi Supreme Court. *Brandon HMS, Inc. v. Bradshaw*, 809 So.2d 611, 625-6 (Miss. 2002). In *Bradshw*, Mr. Smith issued a separate dissent wherein he disagreed with the majority's conclusion that a plaintiff's drug use was relevant. *Id.* In his dissent, he states:

This Court has held that standard mortality tables reflecting life expectancy are admissible only if the individual in question was in good health prior to an injury and not prone to conduct likely to impair their health. *Tucker v. Gurley*, 179 Miss. 412, 176 So.

279 (1937). Evidence regarding the plaintiff's health before an injury is admissible to question the figures on mortality tables. *Pharr v. Anderson*, 436 So.2d 1357, 1360 (Miss.1983) (defendant physician in medical malpractice action had right to show deceased was not healthy because of diabetes). *Thus, in my view, Bradshaw's drug use was relevant to her work-life and life expectancies.*

Id. Emphasis added.

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