IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WACKENHUT SECURITY AND ROZIVITO HOSKINS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS AN EMPLOYEE OF WACKENHUT SECURITY

APPELLANT

VS.

Cause No.: 2010-CA-00480

ERNIE FORTUNE

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Oral argument is not requested

OF COUNSEL:

J. ASHLEY OGDEN, ESQ. (MSB JAMES W. SMITH, JR., ESQ. (MSB GOGDEN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC 500 East Capitol Street, Suite 3 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 969-0999 Facsimile: (601) 969-0089 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff concedes that the trial court committed reversible error by denying Defendants' Proposed Jury Instruction D-11 on contributory negligence. There was conflicting evidence presented to the jury regarding whether or not the Plaintiff brandished a knife and threatened anyone prior to being assaulted by Hoskins. The Record provides a foundation in the evidence for a jury instruction on the Plaintiff's possible contributory negligence. The trial court's denial of Defendants' Proposed Jury Instruction D-11 prevented Defendant from presenting its theory of the case. It was reversible error not to instruct the jury on contributory negligence when proof was presented at trial. The Defendants are entitled to a new trial. Appellee by separate motion and within this brief respectfully requests this cause be dismissed and remanded for a new trial.

Appellee/Plaintiff reserves argument on all other issues raised on appeal. Defendants are entitled to a new trial based on the reversible error of the denial of Defendants' Proposed Jury Instruction D-11 which would render the decisions on the other issues moot. If the Court does not grant Appellee's motion and requires a full briefing on the other nine (9) issues Appellee/Plaintiff requests fifteen days (15) to fully brief the remaining issues.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The standard of review for challenges to jury instructions is as follows: Jury instructions are to be read together and taken as a whole with no one instruction taken out of context. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence." *Harris v. State*, 861 So. 2d 1003, 1012-1013 (Miss. 2003). The Supreme Court will reverse based on the denial of an instruction if the granted instructions, taken as a whole, do not fairly instruct the jury on the applicable law supported by each party's proof. *Young v. Guild*, 7 So. 3d 251 (Miss. 2009).

ARGUMENT

Plaintiff reserves argument on the nine (9) issues raised by

<u>Appellants/Defendants not briefed herein.</u>

If the Court requires a full briefing on the other nine (9) issues

Appellee/Plaintiff requests fifteen days (15) to fully brief the remaining issues.

I. The Trial Court Erred in Refusing Proposed Jury Instruction D-11 Regarding Plaintiff's Contributory Negligence

The trial court committed reversible error by denying Defendants' Proposed Jury Instruction D-11.

The standard of review when considering the grant or denial of jury instructions is whether, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence, that no hypothetical, reasonable jury could find the facts in accordance with the theory of the requested instruction. *Church v. Massey*, 697 So. 2d 407, 410-11 (Miss. 1997). A party is entitled to have the jury instructed regarding a genuine issue of material fact so long as there is credible evidence in the record which would support the instruction. *Tharp v. Bunge Corp.*, 641 So. 2d 20, 26 (Miss. 1994).

Southland Enterprises, Inc. v. Newton County, 838 So. 2d 286, 289 (Miss. 2003). Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellants/Defendants, and considering all favorable inferences in the evidence, a reasonable juror could find the facts in accordance with the theory of contributory negligence requested in Proposed Jury Instruction D-11. There is evidence which was presented by the Appellants/Defendants that supports a contributory negligence instruction. Hoskins testified that he asked the Plaintiff to leave the premises. (Tr. 551:28 to 553:20; 559:25 to 560:6). After asking the Plaintiff to leave the premises, Hoskins approached the Plaintiff, who according to Hoskins, brandished a knife. (Tr. 552:3-11). Jackson Police Department officer, Reginald Cooper, testified that a knife was recovered and listed as evidence in the police incident report. (Tr. 209:12). The Wackenhut incident Report stated a fingernail file not a knife was recovered: (Exhibit P-6).

Luckett thought that when Plaintiff re-entered the restaurant with the dollar and placed it on the counter it was an aggressive movement. (Tr. 534:16-535:8). Hoskins testified the plaintiff had a knife that was sizable enough that it was a threat. (Tr. 552:9-11). While the evidence is disputed by other witness testimony this evidence does support Defendants' Proposed Jury Instruction D-11. The theory of contributory negligence was presented by the Defendants' was not represented in the jury instructions. See, *Ford v. State*, 975 So. 2d 859, 863-64 (Miss. 2008) (Defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which presents his theory of the case). While the video of the incident does not show the Plaintiff brandishing a knife the Defendant

testified that he thought the Plaintiff had a knife. It is arguable that the Defendant should have been allowed to have an instruction on contributory negligence.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court remand this cause for a new trial on the issues.